COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2017 MAY 18 PM 2: 19

STATE OF MASHINGTON

DEPUTY

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 47438-7

HBH; SAH; KEY, JDB, and KMH,

Appellants,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

PETER J. HELMBERGER Senior Counsel WSBA No. 23041, OID No. 91105 P.O. Box 2317 Tacoma, WA 98401-2317 (253) 593-5243



###

### I. INTRODUCTION

Between 1998 and 2003, Scott and Drew Anne Hamrick served as foster parents to a number of children, including the five young women who are Plaintiffs here. At the time, the Hamricks received glowing reports as caregivers, and the children asked to be adopted by them, which later occurred. During this pre-adoption period, none of the children reported any abuse to any of the mandatory abuse reporters (social workers, teachers, therapists, and guardians ad litem) with whom they routinely interacted, and none of those mandatory reporters reported any concerns to the Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS). Later, between 2008 and 2010, DSHS received three reports of possible abuse by the Hamricks, and in 2011 DSHS removed Plaintiffs from the Hamrick home.

Plaintiffs sued DSHS, alleging that DSHS negligently failed to investigate and discover abuse. The claims were based on two distinct time periods: (1) the pre-adoption period (1998-2003); and (2) the later time when DSHS received reports of abuse (2008-2010). Both claims went to trial, but at the close of the evidence, the superior court dismissed the claim based on the earlier, pre-adoption time period, finding "there was nothing [in the evidence elicited] to show there was any abuse." RP 83 (3/5/15). Thus, nothing DSHS knew or could have reasonably known during the pre-adoption period supported a claimed breach of duty to investigate or take action. *Id.* The

remaining claim of negligence during the latter period went to a jury, which found for DSHS. CP 636-40.

The court of appeals reversed. But the claim it allowed was not based on this Court's extensive case law regarding statutorily implied claims for negligent investigation. For the first time, the court of appeals declared that DSHS is subject to a common law duty to investigate. It found a "special relationship" exists between social workers and foster children under the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 315(b) (1965) such that social workers owe a duty of care to foster children they interact with, and held that a foster child could claim a breach of this duty even if DSHS entirely complied with state law and agency policy. This subjects taxpayers to liability when foster children suffer harm even if the State had no reason to suspect abuse.

This Court should accept review to determine: (1) whether DSHS has a common law duty to protect children in foster care from harm caused by third parties when the State conduct is not analogous to the private conduct that is subject to liability at common law; (2) whether social workers have a "special relationship" with foster children under Restatement (Second) of Torts § 315(b) (1965) when they lack custody and supervision of the children and have no indication of a risk posed by a third party; and (3) whether a reasonable jury could have found a breach of duty based on the

evidence here, which showed nothing warranting investigation by DSHS during the pre-adoption period.

### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION

The Petitioner is the State of Washington, Department of Social and Health Services. In *HBH v. State*, No. 47438-7, the Court of Appeals reversed a CR 50 dismissal and remanded a claim for trial (*HBH*, et al. v. State, No. 47438-7, slip op., Wash. Dec. 13, 2016, see App. A). The court revised the original decision after a motion for reconsideration. App. B (Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration and Amending Filed Opinion, *HBH*, et al. v. State, No. 47438-7, Wash. April 18, 2017).

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Under the State's waiver of sovereign immunity, is DSHS subject to a common law duty to investigate and protect children in foster care from harm caused by third parties where the conduct of administering foster care is not analogous to the type of conduct of a private party subject to tort liability at common law?
- 2. Do DSHS social workers have a special relationship duty to foster children under Restatement (Second) of Torts § 315(b) (1965), when social workers lack custody and supervision of the children, where there is no historic basis for finding the duty, and where the elements needed to impose the special relationship duty do not exist?

3. Should dismissal of Plaintiffs' claim for pre-adoption negligence be affirmed because no reasonable jury could have found a breach of duty by DSHS where there was no evidence of potential harm from the foster parents and no unreasonable failure to act?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs' alleged that DSHS negligently failed to protect them from abuse in the Hamrick home during two distinct time periods: the pre-adoption period, between 1998-2003, and a post-adoption period in 2008-2010 during which three CPS referrals occurred. The Complaint alleged that DSHS had breached a duty to conduct "reasonable investigations and taking appropriate action in response to reports and referrals expressing concern regarding Scott and/or Drew Ann Hamrick's" parenting. CP 6.

This matter went to trial, which lasted approximately six weeks. At the conclusion of evidence, the Court granted the State's CR 50 motion and dismissed claims based on the pre-adoption period. The negligent investigation claim based on the 2008 to 2010 period went to the jury, which returned a verdict in favor of DSHS.

In dismissing, the trial court noted that even viewing the facts in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs, in the pre-adoption period there had been no allegations or evidence of abuse to trigger a duty on DSHS to investigate, and, therefore the negligent investigation claim failed as a matter of law.

According to the trial court, "there were so many people involved that were handling this prior to the adoption, all of these other voices that were coming in saying, no, there was nothing to show there was any abuse." RP (3/5/15) at 83:2-12. As shown below, this was the only conclusion to reach based on the evidence.

#### A. Overview of the Evidence Considered under CR 50

In 1998, the first of the plaintiffs, KMH, was placed in the Hamrick foster home. According to her social worker, Amy Page, KMH expressed that she wanted to be adopted by the Hamricks, and throughout the dependency process never gave any impression or indication there was anything wrong, nor did the social worker see any evidence there was something wrong in the Hamrick home. RP (3/4/15) at 55:8-24. Page was also in touch with the child's therapist and GAL and there were no reports of concerns from either. RP (3/4/15) at 59:4-60:25. According to Page, KMH appeared to be happy. RP (3/4/15) at 61:15-18. KMH testified that she was never sexually abused in the Hamrick home. RP (2/23/15) at 289:9-290:9.

The social worker assigned to SAH and HBH at that time was Mary (Wooldridge) Meyer, who became the Twins' social worker in February 1999. RP (2/9/15) at 8:11-15; RP (3/2/15) at 114:8-9. Meyer testified that she would not provide the Juvenile Court with updates or submit an Individual Service and Safety Plan (ISSP) to the Court without conducting a contemporaneous

Health and Safety visit. She made her first report to the Court in March 1999. RP (3/2/15) at 114:10-14. The next month Meyer flew with the Twins up to Alaska to visit with prospective adoptive parents. RP (3/2/15) at 114:15-24.

Meyer filed more reports with the Court in June 1999, September 1999, and May 2000. RP (3/2/15) at 115:3-116:9; RP (3/2/15) at 104:18-105:5; 123:12-16; Ex. 114. On October 29, 1999, the Twins were placed in the Hamrick home. When Meyer visited the Twins in early November, they told her they did not want to leave and begged her to let them stay in the Hamrick home. RP (3/2/15) 118:6-8; RP (3/2/15) 118:6-119:8. Later, during a May 2000 visit, the Twins invited Meyer to a dance recital. RP (3/2/15) at 104:18-105:5; 123:12-16; Ex. 114. Plaintiffs claimed Meyer did not conduct health and safety visits after November 1999, and failed to learn of their abuse. RP (2/5/15) at 35:9-17. However, at trial HBH testified that the abuse did not begin until a year after she was adopted (RP (2/19/15) at 126:10-13), and SAH testified that she did not become aware that the inappropriate touching was sexual abuse until the disclosures occurred in 2011. RP (2/11/15) at 64:10-16.

In May and June of 2000, an Adoption Home Study was conducted by Social Worker Shannon Nelson. Ex. 115. Nelson also conducted interviews of the Twins, and the foster and biological children in the home. All reported they were doing well and looking forward to the adoption. RP (2/19/15) at

166:1-167:19; RP (2/23/15) at 181:15 – 182: 25. After the Home Study, Meyer visited the Twins again. Meyer testified that they were so happy to be adopted by the Hamricks they gave hugs, jumped up and down, etc. RP (3/2/15) 124:1-18. The home study was completed on June 21, 2000. Ex. 115. On October 6, 2000, KMH, HBH and SAH were adopted. Exhibit 121 is a drawing the Twins made for Meyer and presented to her on the day of their adoption. RP (3/2/15) at 124:23-125:19.

The Twins also had regular contact with Laura Bentle (Kellogg), their Court Appointed Special Advocate Guardian ad Litem (CASA GAL). RP (2/25/15) at 88:1-9. Bentle testified that she saw the Twins on average about once every six weeks over the course of their dependency. RP (2/15/15) at 85:22-87:21; 106:21-107:3; RP (2/25/15) at 106:6-18. In regards to the Hamrick home, Bentle reported that "in the five years this CASA GAL has been active in the girls' lives, I have never seen them so happy." RP (2/15/15) at 107:19-21; Ex.109; Ex. 112. In April 2000, the Twins wanted GAL Bentle to promise they could be adopted by the Hamricks. RP (2/25/15) at 138:5-139:19; Ex. 112. Bentle also recalls the subsequent visit where the Twins were very happy when told they would be adopted by the Hamricks. RP (2/25/15) at 138:5-139:19; Ex. 112. At no point did the Twins report to Bentle any allegations that they were being inappropriately touched or otherwise give any indication that something had or was about to go wrong in

the Hamrick home. RP (2/15/15) at 115:23-116:8. At their adoption, the Twins presented Bentle with drawings thanking her for the family and the adoption, as they had done for Meyer. RP (2/25/15) at 111:20-112:17; Exs. 217, 217A, 217B, and 217C.

The final two Plaintiffs, KEH and JBH, were placed in the Hamrick home in January, 2000. RP (3/3/15) at 48:4-16. They remained foster children until 2003. Their social workers, all of whom testified at trial, were Lisa Gilman, Amy Page, and Anna Tran. Each testified that they conducted regular health and safety visits, that the children appeared to be doing well and reported a desire to be in the Hamrick home. None had concerns about the Hamrick home. All three testified that they had routine contact with the assigned GAL, and KEH's therapist. On March 8, 2000, during a Health and Safety Visit, KEH told Gilman that she and her sister wanted to stay with the Hamricks "forever" and she was adamant about that. Ex. 198 at 110. Tran testified this squared with her impression as well. RP (2/25/15) at 67:8-20.

During this period, KEH was in weekly counseling. RP (2/25/15) at 145:21-24. There were no reports of abuse made to Tran by counselors. In fact, based on Gilman's contact with KEH and her discussion with the therapist, Gilman believed that KEH was "so bonded with her foster parent"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Gilman: RP (3/3/15) at 34:1-6, 37:8-38:22, RP (3/3/15) at 51:3-52:1; Page (who first met the Hamricks in 1998): RP (3/4/15) at 66:1-8, RP (3/4/15) at 62:6-63:13, RP (3/4/15) at 62:6-63:13, RP (3/4/15) at 67:3-20; Tran: RP (2/15/15) at 56:10-59:22.

that it was making visits with her biological mother difficult. RP (3/3/15) at 9:1-18. By the spring of 2000, KEH began to taper off from weekly therapy as she improved, RP (3/4/15) at 66:1-8, which was connected with being told that she would be adopted by the Hamricks. RP (2/25/15) at 74:20-75:6.

KEH and JBH were adopted on January 31, 2003. Once a child is adopted, DSHS plays no role in the children's life or otherwise maintains any contact with the child. RP (2/9/15) at 41:8-9.

## B. The Court of Appeals Reversed by Finding a Special Relationship Common Law Duty and Evidence Supporting a Breach of that Duty

On appeal, the Plaintiffs abandoned any claim that DSHS conducted a negligent investigation under the cause of action implied from RCW 26.44.050. App. A, at 8 n.2; see also M.W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv., 149 Wn.2d 589, 70 P.3d 954 (2003) (discussing RCW 26.44.050 cause of action). But rather than affirm the trial court's well-supported dismissal of Plaintiffs' claim, the court of appeals found that DSHS had a new, parallel, previously unidentified common law duty to conduct investigations to protect foster children, and that this new duty could be breached where there are no reports of abuse or neglect and the evidence shows the children are doing well. App. A. The court found this common law duty by concluding that there was a "special relationship" that imposed a duty to protect under Restatement (Second) of Torts § 315(b) (1965).

The court found the relationship between DSHS and foster children was like the relationship between innkeeper and guests, common carriers and passengers, and hospitals and patients. These relationships "are protective in nature, historically involving an affirmative duty to render aid" and "where one party is entrusted with the well being of another." App. A 8-9 (internal quotations and citations omitted). It then described this Court's opinion in *MW*. as ambiguous in limiting DSHS's duty to investigate to situations involving reports or evidence of abuse or neglect. App. A. It held the DSHS-foster child relationship created a duty as in *Caulfield v. Kitsap County*, 108 Wn. App. 242, 250, 29 P.3d 738 (2001), involving a vulnerable adult in custodial care. App. A at 13.

After finding the new duty, the court found that a question of fact existed as to whether a social worker failed to properly conduct a health and safety check. This evidence, it ruled, could show a breach of duty because a jury might find that "SAH or one of the other girls would have disclosed the abuse and the State would have intervened." App. A 15-16. The opinion does not indicate what abuse could have been disclosed under this speculative chain of events.

The court of appeals modified its opinion upon reconsideration. It deleted its original, candid statement that "we reverse the trial court's CR 50 ruling and remand for trial on the claims of negligent investigation and

failure to take appropriate protective action during the period before adoption." The court substituted "we reverse the trial court's CR 50 ruling and remand for trial." App. B. at 2. It made no substantive changes to its analysis of a new duty to investigate and conclusion that there was some evidence that might support a breach.

### V. THE PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case is the first time a Washington court has gone outside the extensive statutory and regulatory framework through which the Legislature created DSHS and defined its responsibilities to the state's foster children to impose a common law tort duty to investigate. The court of appeals found this duty where there is no private sector analog conduct, contrary to the state's waiver of sovereign immunity. It found the duty by misapplying the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 315(b), because a social worker's relationship with a foster child falls outside the special relation duty contemplated by the restatement and case law. Finally, it remanded based on evidence that a trial court, after six weeks of trial, properly found it could not reasonably support a jury finding of negligence. Thus, there are three separate reasons to reverse the court of appeals. These issues meet this Court's criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b). The newly declared duty conflicts with case law of this Court and the courts of appeal, and the case raises questions of significant public interest because the newly declared duty affects all the state's foster families, social workers, and taxpayers.

### A. The Court Should Address Whether the Common Law Cause of Action Based on DSHS Implementation of the Foster Care Statutes Is Contrary to the State's Waiver of Sovereign Immunity

In 1961, the Legislature waived sovereign immunity in part, directing that the "state be liable for damages arising out of tortious conduct to the same extent as if it were a private person or corporation." RCW 4.92.090. Conduct giving rise to tort liability must be analogous, in some degree at least, to the chargeable misconduct and liability of a private person or corporation.<sup>2</sup> But only the State removes children from their parents and places them into foster care; private persons and corporations do not engage in analogous conduct. In the absence of analogous private sector conduct, the waiver of sovereign immunity does not encompass common-law liability for negligent foster care administration. RCW 4.92.090. Cf. RCW 26.44.050 (creating statutory liability for negligent investigation of child abuse or neglect).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In evaluating a public duty doctrine question, Justice Chambers observed that "treating governments the same as private persons or corporations became problematic where statutes and ordinances imposed duties on governments not imposed upon private persons or corporations." *Munich v. Skagit Emergency Commc'ns Ctr.*, 175 Wn. 2d 871, 887-88, 288 P.3d 328 (2012) (Chambers, J. concurring), citing and quoting *Evangelical United Brethren Church v. State*, 67 Wn.2d 246, 253, 407 P.2d 440 (1965) ("Essentially, then, the official conduct giving rise to liability must be tortious, and it must be analogous, in some degree at least, to the chargeable misconduct and liability of a private person or corporation."). In both the sovereign immunity context and public duty analysis, state liability in tort depends on conduct that is "analogous, in some degree at least," to private conduct also subject to tort liability. *Evangelical United Brethren*, 67 Wn.2d at 253.

The State's waiver of sovereign immunity did not create tort liability for implementing foster care statutes. RCW 4.92.090. For example, Washington courts made it clear there is no such thing as a common law claim for negligent investigation. M.W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv., 149 Wn. 2d 589, 601, 70 P.3d 954 (2003). Moreover, the absence of a common law claim is demonstrated by this Court's determination that the Legislature by implication allowed a cause of action under RCW 26.44.050, the statute authorizing investigation of child abuse or neglect. See e.g. Tyner v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs. 141 Wn.2d 68, 79-81, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000) (determining that the Legislature implied a cause of action for negligent investigation under RCW 26.44.050). Had a common law duty to investigate or liability for special relationship existed, this Court would not have needed to find this implied cause of action.

Review should be granted in light of how the court of appeals ruling conflicts with the limits of the state's waiver of sovereign immunity and cases holding that Washington does not recognize a common law cause of action for negligent investigation.<sup>3</sup> The special relationship duty cannot be imposed on DSHS consistent with the limited waiver of sovereign immunity where it imposes liability on conduct not analogous to private conduct subject to tort

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> E.g., Dever v. Fowler, 63 Wn. App. 35, 44-5, 816 P.2d 1237 (1991); Pettis v. State, 98 Wn. App. 553, 558, 990 P.2d 453 (1999); Blackwell v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv., 131 Wn. App. 372, 375, 127 P.3d 752 (2006).

liability under the common law.

B. The Court Should Address Whether the Court of Appeals Erred when it found that the Restatement (Second) of Torts §315(b) Imposes on DSHS a Common Law "Special Relationship Duty" to Investigate that exceeds the Implied Cause of Action Duty Previously Recognized

"As a general rule, there is no duty to prevent a third party from intentionally harming another unless a special relationship exists between the defendant and either the third party or the foreseeable victim of the third party's conduct." *Niece v. Elmview Group Home*, 131 Wn.2d 39, 43, 929 P.2d 420 (1997) (internal quotations omitted). Avoiding the general rule, the court of appeals concluded that DSHS had a special relationship duty under Restatement § 315(b). This conclusion conflicts with case law limiting the special relationship duty. Moreover, the duty goes far beyond the only cause of action implied by legislative intent. If not corrected, this new duty will alter the relationships between DSHS and foster parents and children.

1. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with § 315(b) cases limiting application of the special relationship duty

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