No. 94529-2

---

SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

HBH; SAH; and TREY HAMRICK,  
litigation guardian ad litem on behalf of  
KEH, JBH, and KMH,

Respondents,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

and

TOWN OF EATONVILLE,

Defendants.

---

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

Lincoln C. Beauregard  
WSBA #32878  
Julie A. Kays  
WSBA #30385  
Connelly Law Offices  
2301 North 30<sup>th</sup> Street  
Tacoma, WA 98403  
(253) 593-0377

Nelson C. Fraley II  
WSBA #26742  
Faubion, Reeder, Fraley & Cook, P.S.  
5316 Orchard Street West  
University Place, WA 98467  
(253) 581-0660

Philip A. Talmadge  
WSBA #6973  
Sidney C. Tribe  
WSBA #33160  
Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe

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

C. ARGUMENT

(1) The State Seeks to Restore Sovereign Immunity for Its Failure to Protect Children Subject to Its Care

The State contends in its petition at 12-14 that it owes no duty to the children because there is “no analogous private sector conduct” that

---

<sup>4</sup> DSHS has a statutory duty to investigate such an allegation; RCW 74.13.031 identifies the following among the Department’s duties to dependent children:

(3) The department shall investigate complaints of any recent act or failure to act on the part of a parent or caretaker that results in death, serious physical or emotional harm, or sexual abuse or exploitation, or that presents an imminent risk of serious harm, and on the basis of the findings of such investigation, offer child welfare services in relation to the problem to such parents, legal custodians, or persons serving in loco parentis, and/or bring the situation to the attention of an appropriate court, or another community agency. An investigation is not required for nonaccidental injuries which are clearly not the result of a lack of care or supervision by the child’s parents, legal custodians, or persons serving in loco parentis. If the investigation reveals that a crime against a child may have been committed, the department shall notify the appropriate law enforcement agency.

<sup>5</sup> According to Pierce County Detective Deborah Heishman, the children experienced a wide array of abusive conduct at the Hamricks’ hands: (1) pervasive sexual abuse by their adoptive father, Scott Hamrick, (2) being denied food for days at a time, (3) being regularly beaten with metal spatulas, hot curling irons and other kitchen products, (4) being locked in a room for days without anything but a blanket to sleep on the floor and a bucket in which to urinate, (5) being starved to the point of unhealthy body mass, (6) disparaging and degrading comments about their bodies and abilities, (7) being forced to sleep in the woods outside of the home, (8) unusual forms of corporal punishment such as being forced to move rocks and bales of hay from one side of the yard to the other for no real reason besides punishment, (9) slashes in the face with scissors to the point of permanent scarring, (10) repeated threats of being returned to foster care, and other assorted forms of egregious abuse. RP (2/5/15):19-52.

compels it to perform its child protective duties through CPS in a non-negligent fashion. This bizarre restriction on its duty to foster children like those present here should be rejected as nothing more than the State's back door effort to obtain tort immunity despite RCW 4.92.090.

In discussing the duty owed by the State to the children, Division II applied well-established principles of Washington common law. Op. at 7-14. That court properly recognized that the State had a "Duty to Protect." *Id.* at 7. The State, however, fundamentally *misrepresents* Washington law. It asserts that for "the first time a Washington court has gone outside the extensive statutory and regulatory framework through which the Legislature created DSHS/CPS and defined its responsibilities to the state's foster children to impose a common law tort duty to investigate." Pet. at 11. It seemingly contends that it can *never* have a common law duty to children under its care, *ever*. That is simply untrue. This Court has recognized that in addition to statutory duties to abused children, the State has common law duties to children in its care as well.

First, as the State well knows, CPS has a *statutory* duty to investigate claims of child abuse. RCW 26.44.060. When that statutory duty has been breached, *numerous* cases have held the State liable either to the abused child when further abuse occurs or the parents when their right to their

relationship with the child has been legally invaded.<sup>6</sup> For the State to argue that common law duties on its part to properly protect children under its care by making appropriate investigation of the home in which it places an abused child is a great “expansion” of the State’s duty is baseless; rather, it is inherent in its ongoing duty to children who have been found to be dependent.

The State also continues to misrepresent this Court’s holding in *M.W. v. Dep’t of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 149 Wn.2d 589, 70 P.3d 954 (2003), claiming that the *M.W.* court eliminated anything but statutorily-prescribed State duties to children generally, or to children in the State’s care specifically. Pet. at 13. The State’s obstinate effort to confine any duty it owes with regard to abuse investigations to its statutory duty under RCW 26.44.050 is undercut by the *M.W.* court’s actual opinion. *Nothing* in *M.W.* evidenced this Court’s intent to eliminate common law claims *per se* against DSHS for its negligent conduct as to foster children. In the bizarre facts of

---

<sup>6</sup> *E.g.*, *Babcock v. State*, 116 Wn.2d 596, 809 P.2d 143 (1991) (DSHS caseworkers were not entitled to immunity where they made negligent placement decision entrusting girls to the care of a relative who raped them); *Lesley for Lesley v. Dep’t of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 83 Wn. App. 263, 921 P.2d 1066 (1996), *review denied*, 131 Wn.2d 1026 (1997) (recognizing cause of action for negligent investigation of child abuse allegations arising out of RCW 26.44.050); *Yonker v. Dep’t of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 85 Wn. App. 71, 930 P.2d 958, *review denied*, 132 Wn.2d 1010 (1997) (same); *Lewis v. Whatcom Cty.*, 136 Wn. App. 450, 149 P.3d 686 (2006) (county sheriff’s department owed child a duty to reasonably investigate allegations of sexual abuse by uncle). *See also*, *Tyner v. Dep’t of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 141 Wn.2d 68, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000) (duty to conduct non-negligent investigation of child abuse allegations extends to parents).

that case, CPS staff conducted an “examination” of a foster child who had allegedly been sexually abused by the child’s foster parents. CPS re-traumatized the child as well as the foster parent present for the “examination.” While the Court affirmed dismissal of the negligent statutory investigation claim, the *only* claim before the Court on appeal, *id.* at 593, this Court was quick to note that DSHS continued to have a “common law duty of care not to negligently harm children.” *Id.* at 600-01. In sum, *common law* claims are available to child victims of abuse against the State, apart from RCW 26.44.050.<sup>7</sup>

This Court has long held that there is a common law duty to protect children under an entity’s care from abusive treatment. In *C.J.C. v. Corp. of the Catholic Bishop of Yakima*, 138 Wn.2d 699, 985 P.2d 262 (1999), this Court held that the Catholic Church owed a duty of reasonable care to children to prevent their foreseeable harm. In that case, a church deacon sexually abused children. The Court predicated this duty of care on the special relationship between the Church and the children of the congregation. *Id.* at 721-24. *See also, M.H. v. Corp. of Catholic Archbishop of Seattle*, 162 Wn. App. 183, 252 P.3d 914, *review denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1006

---

<sup>7</sup> In the absence of an express intent by the Legislature to abrogate any common law duties, the State’s common law duties are concurrent with any statutory duties it has to protect the children from harm. RCW 4.04.010; *Potter v. Wash. State Patrol*, 165 Wn.2d 67, 76, 196 P.3d 691 (2008). The State has not pointed to such an express legislative intent.

(2011) (church had protective duty to female child parishioner to prevent abuse by man a priest allowed to come into contact with the child); *N.K. v. Corp. of Presiding Bishop of Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints*, 175 Wn. App. 517, 307 P.3d 730, *review denied*, 179 Wn.2d 1005 (2013) (church had protective relationship with Boy Scout who was entrusted to care and custody of church-sponsored troop). Thus, for the State to claim that there are no common law counterparts to its liability in this case is simply *false*.

In order to make this argument, the State must also misrepresent the actual nature of its duty to the children and foster children generally. It seeks to truncate its responsibility to one of “investigation” alone. But the duty owed by the State to the children here was not simply to “investigate,” but rather to properly protect them, as vulnerable minors under the State’s protection, by placing them in an appropriate care setting. Certainly in doing so, the State had an obligation to ensure that such a setting was *safe*. The children’s position is well-recognized in Washington law and not “novel.”

Critically, the State is obtuse to the reasons why it had authority over the children at all. *The State terminated the children’s parents’ rights*. It could only do so where the children’s physical or mental health was so seriously jeopardized by parental deficiencies that could not be corrected

that they became “dependent,” and the children became the State’s responsibility. RCW 13.34.030(5). The State has a broad *parens patriae* responsibility to intervene and protect a child under such extreme circumstances. RCW 13.34.020; *In re Dependence of Schermer*, 161 Wn.2d 927, 941-42, 169 P.3d 452 (2007). As this Court noted “the State has an interest in protecting the physical, mental, and emotional health of children” and it is “well established that when a child’s physical or mental health is seriously jeopardized by parental deficiencies,” the State has the right and the duty to intervene on behalf of the child. *Id.* at 941.

This broad, ongoing duty to dependent children who arrive in foster care was confirmed in detail in this Court’s landmark decision in *Braam v. State*, 150 Wn.2d 689, 81 P.3d 851 (2003).<sup>8</sup> In that case, this Court held that foster children have substantive due process rights the State is bound to respect. “Washington’s foster care system is charged with the sad duty of

---

<sup>8</sup> The State cites *Sheikh v. State*, 156 Wn.2d 441, 128 P.3d 574 (2006) only in a footnote. Pet. at 20 n.7. That case does not detract from the children’s argument that the State has a special protective relationship as to foster children. There, the question was whether the State had a *Restatement* § 319 “take charge” duty over foster children who then assaulted the plaintiff. This Court found that foster care did not result in sufficient control over the day-to-day actions of foster children to create an actionable duty to third persons. This Court cited with approval the observation in *Terrell C. v. Dep’t of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 120 Wn. App. 20, 29, 84 P.3d 899, *review denied*, 152 Wn.2d 1018 (2014): “Any on-going relationship between the social worker and the child is *to prevent future harm to that child, not to protect members of community from harm.*” *Id.* at 450. (emphasis added). That statement properly distinguishes between the State’s duty to the children here, to protect them from harm, and the State’s “take charge” duty to third persons.

caring for children whose families are unable to do.” *Id.* at 694.<sup>9</sup> Central to that substantive due process right is a foster child’s right to protection from unreasonable risk of harm and a right to reasonable safety while under the State’s care and supervision. *Id.* at 699.

The State’s placement duty as to foster children is not a “new” common law duty to investigate. It is a well-recognized common law duty to properly protect vulnerable children under the State’s care by placing

---

<sup>9</sup> RCW 74.13.010 states:

The purpose of this chapter is to safeguard, *protect*, and contribute to the welfare of the children of the state, through a comprehensive and coordinated program of child welfare services provided by both the department and supervising agencies providing for: Social services and facilities for children who require guidance, care, control, *protection*, treatment, or rehabilitation; setting of standards for social services and facilities for children; cooperation with public and voluntary agencies, organizations, and citizen groups in the development and coordination of programs and activities in behalf of children; and promotion of community conditions and resources that help parents to discharge their responsibilities for the care, development, and well-being of their children.

(emphasis added). *See also*, RCW 74.13.031(6) (DSHS ongoing duty to monitor placement to ensure child safety consistent with RCW 74.13.010). RCW 74.13.330 notes the duty of protection owed by foster parents, chosen by the State, to the children under their care:

Foster parents are responsible for the *protection*, care, supervision, and nurturing of the child in placement. As an integral part of the foster care team, foster parents shall, if appropriate and they desire to: Participate in the development of the service plan for the child and the child’s family; assist in family visitation, including monitoring; model effective parenting behavior for the natural family; and be available to help with the child’s transition back to the natural family.

(emphasis added).



them only in a decent, safe setting. Division II correctly articulated that duty here. Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

(2) In Its *Parens Patriae* Capacity and Under Applicable Statutes, the State Had a Special Relationship with the Children and a Duty to Them under § 315 of the *Restatement (Second) of Torts*

As the necessary predicate for the specific common law duty to the children in this case, Division II determined that there was a special relationship between the State and the children for purposes of the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 315. Op. at 12-14.<sup>10</sup> Contrary to the State’s argument that it has no special relationship with foster children, pet. at 14-22, Washington law is unambiguously to the contrary and supports the Court of Appeals’ analysis.

The State argues that no special relationship existed between CPS and the children because a “special relationship duty requires substantial control over the plaintiff’s environment and notice of foreseeable harm giving rise to entrustment to the defendant’s case, and a demonstration of an historic obligation to provide protection from third parties.” Pet. at 15.

---

<sup>10</sup> § 315(b) states in particular that an actor has a duty to another as to harm where “a special relation exists between the actor and the other which gives to the other a right to protection.” Moreover, § 314A of the *Restatement* specifically notes that a special relationship is present as to one “who is required by law to take or who voluntarily takes the custody of another under circumstances such as to deprive the other of his normal opportunities for protection is under a similar duty to the other.” See also, § 320 (duty of person having custody to control the conduct of another). A dependent child falls well within these provisions of the *Restatement*, as Division II recognized. Op. at 9-10.

It cites *no authority* for this contention. Nor can it. Unlike a circumstance under the statutory duty to investigate possible child abuse, the State here unambiguously has statutory/common law control over *dependent* children, like the children here, for whom the State has a clearly established legal protective obligation.

The State's position is belied by special relationship cases that are not confined to physical custodial situations, but extend to situations where one actor has a special obligation to protect another from foreseeable harm. There is little question that a special relationship exists in the custodial setting that requires protection of a plaintiff from harm occasioned by third persons. *E.g., McLeod v. Grant Cty. Sch. Dist. No. 128*, 42 Wn.2d 316, 255 P.2d 360 (1953) (school child under the care and custody of school district); *Niece v. Elmview Group Home*, 131 Wn.2d 39, 929 P.2d 420 (1997) (nursing home resident). A special relationship may also require protection of the plaintiff from the custodian or himself/herself. *E.g., Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor*, 170 Wn.2d 628, 244 P.3d 924 (2010) (inmate's special relationship with jailer requires jailer to ensure inmate's "health, welfare, and safety" so that city was liable for inmate's suicide).

It is not the existence of actual physical control, however, that dictates whether a special relationship is present, as the State contends. This Court squarely rejected the analogous argument that the location of the

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